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THIRD; STATEMENT BY JOSEPH O'CONNOR,

1

152 Rathfarnham Road, Dubli

The Truce was signed at 11 a,m. on the 1llth
.fuly, 1921. Liai_sqn officers were gppointed and we
were free to use all the drill grounds already in
use, Needless: t0 Say! we were badly in need of a
breathing space. -For.the officers, however, there
was no respite - .a hnge amount of lee way had %o be
made up, and to add to our troubles an order was
issued to acecept reecruits. During the Tan War the
only recrults we accepted were young men from Fianna
Bireann, Irish Citizen Army and a very few specially

recommended.

The number of 'recr;:its; was very great and the
N.C.0s., were not used to handling them. Nevertheless,
we worked wonders with then and soon each Battalion
held a display parade. Ours took place at Byrne's
Field, Stillorgan Road, Donnybrook. Over fifteen
hundred were on parade ;anﬂ the special services were
well represented. The entire display was reviewed
bj President De Valera, and I am sure he, like lmyaelf,
thought of the. day of surrender in 1916 when our less
than one hundred heroes marc-he-d out of Bolands.

The Treaty was. B:I.Igned on the 6th December, 1921,
and those who had aceepied the settlement set about
organising a regular army, This action brought a
split in our ranks, for' a large number of our men

revused to accept the Txieaty. At the beginning only
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men transférred from the pre-Truce Volunteers were
aceepted in the new army, but this soon passed, and
the nu;n‘ber of our officers and men who joined up

was large.

The Nation suffered a great loss dur;ng this
period"through the death of Archbleshop Walsh,
a lifelong patriot, and, a8 Archbishop of Dublin,
a man of great power in the country. I was given
.the task of marshelling the great concourse inside
Glasnevin cemetery. When the burial service was
completed Father Fitzglibvbon introduced me 1;6 the
future Archbishop, Doctor Byrne, and he was most
gracious and complimentary in his words of thanks for
the: fine Job the I.R.A. had done.

~ Tempers were getii.ing angry, and moves made by
both sides added to the confusion until in Narch a
convention of anti-Treaty Volunteers was called at .
which I represented the 3rd Rattalion. A temporary
Executive was appointed to draft and submit a
constitution, The gttendance was very good; the
whole I.R.A. was represented by about two hundred and
Pifty officers. I was elected to the Executive, end
with the other members entered on the work full of
enthusiasm. we met the following day at 6 Gardiner's
Row to begin our work, Liam Mellows was elected
Chairmen;.Liam Lynch, Chief of Staff; and others to
various posts, = With three others I was put on.the
cons%itution Drafting sﬁb-cmmnittee.’ The representatives
from the First Southern IDivision were absent but no one |

was anxious as word was [sent that they were meeting all
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the delegates from that Division prior to their

depar ture f£i00p home.

After some time Lynch end the other members
of the Executive from that Division attended, and
threw the first bombshell amongst us by stating they
were dissatisfied with their number of representatives
and adding that the Dublin units had t00 many seats on
the Executive. - This was a most unfortunate thing,
and I am convinced we never got over the shock,
Oscar Traynor snd I withdrew from the meeting. After
a day or two we returned and took our full part in the
wopk for the remaining two weeks until the entire
matter was thrashed out at the resumed convention.
I was again elected and the Constitution was adopted.
We set to work but without that harmony which is the
prelude to success. There were many strong men on
the Executive but we féiled t0 produce one extra-strong
man to rule the others; The result was endless‘talk
and growing bit terness between us and the Treaty-ites.
ﬁhe latter were in a much stronger position. They
had the reins of Govermnent gnd were building up an
army: above all they had Griffith to rule them,
It must be remembered that we had no member of the
Government on the Executive, as all members had to be

active army officers.

The second Executive, that .is the result of the
Aprii 1922 Election, wére g really fine tean,
representing North, South, East and West of the
country. They were og-the finest type of Irishmen
and it was an honour tJ

]

have known ﬁnd worked with
them., | '
I
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The following were the members: of the second
Executive who faced the great takg of siopping the

maddening rush of the' Nation.to self-destruction :

Liam Lynch; | Liam Mellows:
Rory O'Connor: Joe McKelvie;
- Liam Deasy: Peadar O'Donnell:

Ernie O'Malley: Paddy Rutledge:
Micheel Kilroy:  Seén Moylan:

Frank Bai‘ret;t;::; Seumas: Robinson:
$e&n Hegarty: Florrie O'Donoghue:
Tom Hales and  myself.,

I mentioned earilier that De Valera had decided
to take the political iside of the work when he
returned from prison, and how we missed him now &

He certainly would have done great' work on thsat
Executive, and it is s#d to think how frequently he
was; blamed for the things we did or falled to do.
Great efforts: were madg by both sides to get a working
errengement between the two forces and as things: were
very pad in the North we did reach agreemer;t on
sending assistance up there, but the effort. was short-
lived and our forces were getting very restless with
many unfortunate thingq? happening.

¥

Feelings were geﬁting g0 bitter between our two
forces that some of 1;he| Executive cioulci see the cloud
of clvil war gathering |and gétting bl ecker every day.
7o avoid so terrible alcalamity and to continue the

fight for the whole thirty-two counties, it was proposed
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and passed (but witho%t the necessary two-thirds
majority) to give England 72 hours' notice of our
inteniion to break the Truce. A convention was
thereupon:snmmoned and I was elected its Chairman.

After debating the question for a considerable time a
vote was taken and the motion was lost. Now Iynch led
the opposition and the' First Southern Division and others
followed him, I was;gﬁe of the war party but I had to
do my duty as chalrman. _ Certainly an attempt was made
to give a ﬁrong retupn, bp@ I ordered each delegate to
approach and cast his vote in the presence of a
representative of eachlgiQe} with the result as stated.
No sooner had the decléggtion been made then the pro-war
ﬁarty left the mansiohiﬁousg and proceeded to the Four

Courts where we were then established.

The convention went on to consider a motion
demanding the post of Miniéter for Defence in the neﬁ
Government; the motion was; passed and referred to the
Executive for their consideration and action,

I reached home that night a pvhysically sick end

disgusted man.

The following morning I went to the Courts to
have the Executive called to consider the motion referred
to them by tﬁe convention. When I entered, the sentry
gshowed me a photograph of the "officers of the First
gSouthern Diwision, and stated he was instructed to

refuse entry to any of those in the picture,

I tried to get the person responsible for this, but
failed. After some trJuble I got the necessary two
signatures, with my own,| to have a meeting called.

Iynch refused to enter tpe‘cburts because of the

scandalous order to whiqh 1 have referred. The meeting
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was held at Gardiner's Row. The atmosphere of the
meeting was frigid and i1t was decilded to take no action.
' i

1

When leaving the meeting place Mellows pregsed me
to return to the cour{-;s s Btating -'i't was most urgent.
After some persuasion I went with him. Oon arepiving
there we found those who had left the convention the
previous day, holding i:'what= they celled a "convention",
I protested and told t:hem that the convention had
finished ite: business: lthe previous: day.

- ;

They proposed to set up a war council of seven
with OScar Traynor as Chief of Staff. I pointed out
that if thié happened we would have three armies in this
part of Ireland., I talked and argued until Oscar got
in touch with Cathal Bl"ugha. With his assistance we
got them to ﬁc@ept a plloposal t0 refer the matter to

gnother convention to be held in the Courts.

In the meantime Lynch and the officers of the
First $outhern Division attended meetings at the Courts,
but the duties of chie:tlf of Staff were carried out by
MacKelﬁ'ie.,

The pact elect‘ion'i was held., Labour interfered,
capturing same republ_ic"an seats., #hen the Cabinet was
being formed I and Oaca!e Traynor were sent to De fi?‘alera
to get his consent to act as Minister for Defence.

He consented and we were delighted as our men had great

_ falth in him, and we wel-e sure he would have re-united

the two armies. Our hopés were soon dashed t0 the
ground for Collins had liaeen summoned to- London where he
saw Churchill. On his [return he was told that De Valera
had agreed to Jjoin the- c;abinet', but Gollins said De Valera

I

g
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would never sit in the|Cabinet, and he never did, nor
wes he invited., Hence the demand from the convention

to which I have refern?d.

During the period of our occupation of the Four
gourts;, ILynch had ordered the taking over of outside posts.
I was'oragred to occﬁpy the Ballast Office in
fles tmoreland gtreet, wﬁich was done by "C" Company.

Later I was ovdered to |take over the Kildare Street Club,

and this was very near being the starting of the civil war.

MR Company was' in charge. Some members of the Club
fequested permission to remain overnight. ~ The Vice-Regal
Lodge people thought that one of their staff was held
there by us and got in %oueh with the Treaty-ites: to get

!
~their man out. When 1t was explained he was free to

leave they withdrew their forces.

The pogfoms in the North were very bad at this time
and some ‘of the refugees from Belfast t00k over the
Freemason Hall in Molesﬁqrth Street. . I was ordered by
Lynch t0 put a party of!men in there to'prévent the
refugees from damaging éhe place, This I did, and had a
10t of trouble before a more sultaeble place was found for
then. On handing over the place to ithe Deputy Grand
Master when tempers had quietened down, he told me that -
¢ollins; had offered to'rémove us, but they would not agree.
rhey knew that we had goﬁe in to protect their property.
Unfortunately during our oceupation and my absence from
the place, Rory O'Comnor had the safe burnt open, to get,
I wés told, "papers’. _i don't know what they got but
I was very annoyed it shéuld have happened,' If was:;
folly to think there were important pepers there for some

- of the Freemason officers; used the place freely for some

f
B
}
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days after our occupation and certainly would have

removed anything of importance.
I

During the Tan §ar a boycott of Belfast goods was
imposed, but during the Truce the Govermment had removed
the boycott; This was, re-imposed by the Executive, and
myself and Joe McKelvie were appointed to direct it.

We appoirited leo Henderson as full-time officer in charge
of the boycoti, He had a staff working under him and
they made many seizures|of Belfast goods. Some of these
were disposed of by sale and the proceeds of sales and
subscriptions to the boyeott fund were banked by NeKelvie
and me in the Munster a#d Ieinster Bank, Dame Street.

I assumed the name of Byrne for the transactions,

There were many actions taken by our forces with
which I d-.:l.d not hold, sﬁoh as; the bank raeids:; whether
Lynch or Mellows orclereei| these actions I cannot remember,
and I certeinly did not :wagree with the ocecupation of the
Ballast Office.or Kildare Street CGlub, elither of which
| could be taken very easily, and at least I should have
been consulted before such action was taken as both were
in my area of commend, . 8%till I was a soldier and obeyed
orders, and I presume a ér'eat many others found themselves:

in the same position.

During this time and in fact ifrom the formation of
the Army Executive, discussions were going on between the
two sides, It seemed impossible to our gslde that the
others; could have made stizch a complete change over, but

go it was.

The British Army was leaving and I happened to be in
Damé Street when the Iris'rlx troops: arrived to take over the

Castle. I saw them marclrzx in feeling very lonely and
{
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di;sappointed that I had no part in the taking over of
this centre of Engiand{'s power - I yho had planned and
ecouted the plaée for éo long in the hope that it,
rather than the Custom|House, would be the pdint

selected for a major atteck on the British forces.

The meetings of the Army Executive were often far
frém satisfactory and wfe seemed to be unable to reach
declsions. Thus the R':ory O'Comnor element was -dning one
thing and the Lynch party something different.  Mellows,
unfortunatély,"was not the kind of Chairman to force a

decision,

The garrison in the Couris were roughly one hundred
men and they had to be fed. A raiding perty held up a
delivery cart and commendeered some sides of bacon; 1t was
reported in the Press a.I'ld was ad.vleraely comménted Oll,
¢ollins had Just returned from one of his Iondon talks and
rumour had it that he had been reproved for not cil.éaring
the Qourts. A consignment of motors and parts arrived at
Baggot Street from Belfa’lst. Ieo Hendefson took some of
his staff to remove the goods, but Free State troops came
along and stopped the seizure, taking Henderson into
custody. This much I knew, Ap Executive meeting was
réummoned for the Courts;at 5 o'clock p.m. No mention was
made in my presence'at the meeting of the matter, ‘
When the meeting ended ax;d as I was leaving my &djutent
informed me that all Free1 gtatée troops were confined to
Barracks. I told Iynch .th'e NEeWS. His reply was:
"I suppose i‘§ is :I.n"connejction with the arrest of
Ginger O'Connell", (Ginger had been tsken as a reprisal
for Henderson), = adding M"you had better tell McEKelwvie™.
McKelvie was Asaistant Chief of Staff - and I expect 1t
was he who ordered 0'(.‘.01‘111%’11 's arrest, I reported the

- - . .
fact that the Free State tWroops were confined to Barracks to
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HcKelwie and he lissued an order to the Dublin Brigade- to

s tand-t0 until ;!ﬁ.dnight!. Just then Mellows asked me to
'have tea with him as he|was anxious %o tell me of I,R.B.
activities in having the Treaty accepteds I told him

_ that I.had not been hoite since morning end that I w ould be
on duty $ill midnight. He agreed that I should go home
and we arranged to meet '!the following evening when he would

tell me the story. |

At four o'clock the following morning the attack on
‘the. gourts; started and I never saw Mellows: again, Uhat =a
pity, for of all the men on the Executive, he was the one
I most loved, Puring the previous four months of
trouble’ and anxiety we h}ad beconme very close friends, in
complete sympathy with each other's national. outlock, and
I certainlv would have 1iked to have got that story.

The woi-s;b had: happened and the cloud we had seen
approaching had opened its floodgatéa to deluge our
country in .blood, Iet me try In retrospect to mark out
the salient issues of that period of our history and how

evenis . influenced my course of getion. -

To me the Republic was proclaimed by the reading of
the Proclamation on Esster Mondey, 1916, and to 1t I owed
a‘bsolute allegiame. May I remind the reader of my
dsclaration to my men before entering on our pre-arranged
positions that Easter Mom_iay morning .... "TO challenge
the strength of the mightfr British Bmpire, and to free our
country from the enslavement inﬂi'cted‘on her for seven
centuries; by the cruelest miagovernment any country on
earth endured®. I knew t'he odds were encormous, but I was -
willing then to stake my life and liverty for this idea.l,

and how could I aco.:ept less slx years later.

'
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When the 1918 Eléictions were held, and the D&il met
in January, 1919, I‘wa's present for the a_ccepi:‘s:née of the
Republic by the gréat majority of the elected
representatives of the whole country. To me that was
‘f:L.nal. I could not afterwards concede 0 any men or
group of men to alter that solemn declaration and its
equally solemn confirm%xtion. It was becausé of this
that I continued, wi th|a perfec tly clear conscience,
to act as a scldier or!that Republic, and to urge others
to do likewise; I feit that it was. wrong to accept any
settlement with England for Tess then the abaclute
freedom of our whole country. Now that the D41l hed
aceepted the new pos:lti’lon I deemed that they hgd'exceeded
their powers:;, and that it was my duty to contin
striving wntil England #ithdrew ell her forces end we had

complete control of owr affairs.

1 awoke on the morning of the attack on the Courts
about 7 o'clock and hearing the guns; bombarding the |
Courts, knew that the fight was on., I mobilised and my
Battalion was in the £ight by 8 o'clock, less than one
hour af{;er issuing the order, . Héaring that some of our
forces from the south-.had' reached Hlessington, I sent
officers t0 guide .them into what I thought were the
bemt positions in Dubilini, ° I had explained to those
officers for advicé to. the commander of the relief force
that in my opinion if wel!failedi to hold publin, we
would lose the fight. Very little happened in
Hlessington and the relief force wilthdrew,

Qur plan in Dublin was to emtablish posts to
interceépt supplies 'reachi;ng the forces atteching the

gourts, ‘This was the rellason for the occupation of many

houses; on the iarious roulltes from Portobello and
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Beggars Bush and working towards a fight with the actual
attackers. The Fourtlh were late in mobilising and the
Brigadier, Oscar 'f.‘raynlor-, gavé me command of all forces
on the south side of the city. This included the
Fourth Battalion. - My Headquer ters were in 41 York
étréet,' and my first endeavour was to get the Fourth
moving. De Valera reported to me for duty and he was
accompanied by a goodly number of prominent pe<3p1e'.

Few, however, had militery training, and I was sorely
pressed for officers. _1‘?1@ over-crowding in 41 York
Street made for difficulties in its proper functioning
48 Headquarters. The y_ice-cbmandant, Larry lLedwidge,
soon put the many willing helpers to work on various
tasks. I had left himi in qharge of 41, and took over
Jack Baird's shop and rooms: in Mercer Street, where with
De Valera I was better able to toneentrate on the many
provlems facing us.. De Valera made it very clear that
he was: volunteering forany duby allotted to him,

Maggie Fagan, a niece o:I'E‘ Baird, was my well-tried
gssistant and runner. |The new place was only rifty

yards from Headquartiers,

The Courtis; went up, and Oscar took over the
Hammam Hotél in Upper O'Connell Street. The fight still
raged in all parts: of the city. The Fourth got moving,
end Cathal Brugha reported at Paird's: that they, that is
the PFourth Battalion, were going info action and that
they had been in touch with Oanar who wanted their
assistance, I agreed, although certainly I could have
used them, When Gathal!was Teaving De Valers said:
"Mind ydurself, Gathal.”_’-.i_ His: reply was: V"I am alright",
at the same 1;.’Lme‘alzatpp:l'.ﬂglI his revolver, and one could see’

there and then, the s ame man who had sat in a welter of

|
1
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his own blood in the South Union six years previocusly,
ginging songs of dsefiance to the British aArmy who were
attacking all around him, A few days later he was to
mgke a final gesture of defiance in O'Connell Street
when alone he left the front door of the Hammam Hotel
and with his: revolver blazing was: riddled with bullets -
ch! the pity of itt

Enowing thet Austin Stack was in the Hammam, and
that Brugha was now going in, I thought if De Valera would
join them they could set up a Republican Commitiee to
take the benefit of the Army succeases and force them on
the aitention of the ordinary people. This:;,, I was sure,
would be good for the Nation and the, fighting men.

De Valera and I discussed the matter at gréat length.
He was not sure that he could take responsibilty for
auch a sitep, for, as I have s'tated, the Executive
controlled the Army, and they were all active officers,
with their commands, Eventually De Valera consented 40
give the jidea a tr:l.al,'at least to consult the others.
That settled, we got talking, He gave me a word-ploture
Qf his session with ILloyd George - how he wae received,
offered spirits; to drink and cigars to smoke, refusing
both, how the discussion developed, and how, as things
got hot, Iloyd George w:valked across. the Cablnet Room,
and drawing De V?alera'si attention to all the red markings
on the map, put the end of his fountain nen on the spot
representing Ireland, which' was comple telJ covered by the
pen, saying: "This is (freland, Mr. De Valera'. He went
on to tell De Valera that the Empire mobilised ten
million men'during the Great War.

- .

Bob Brennan was aictive with the Battalion, and
I knew, if it were at all possible, Bob would find an
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open read for De Valera. I gave him the job, and he

after scouting the route, réturned and brought De Valers

safely through the enemy lines to the Hemmam, I never

heard what happened to the proposal, nor how it was

recoived,

| When my scouts; reported eneni.v forces: forming a
ring around me, I decided to shift my Headquarters,
.Outside the ring, but yet close enough to the fighting
men, "E" Compeny had a house in Harcourt Terrsce, and
I went there, I had hopes for our forces, I had heard
80 much about'; the thirty-six ‘thousand in the First
Sputhern Division alone, not to mention the Second,
Third and Fourth Divisions, that I really thought that
if we exploited our 'Bnmesaés, those who were foreing
us -back into the Empire, would Btop, and with our
reuni ted lla;'brength‘tell the British to gét out, an‘d..what
a chance they had to scrap partition and the Qr own.,
The world knew now that it was these two things we ;wouid |
not accept, and tha;t wée were prepared to chance another

round "t0o win or lose'", and there were good prospects

of our being vietorious,

When the Hemmem Hotel wes lost 1t was decided o
vacate all our posts; and edopt guerilla tactics in the
ecity. TWhen evacuating the Swan post, Sedn Budds was
carrylng ‘'a machine gunl to my .Hggdquarters at Baird's.
A Free State armoured car drove up Mercer Street from
South King Street and seemed t0 be about to attack us.
Thereupon I saw Seén mgmnt'the gm in the centre of the
road and open fire on ’é.he car not fifty yards away.
The car turned into York Stréet- and proceeded towards
St. Satephen's‘ Green.' This was a very brave action of
Budds and pfevented a ﬁigﬁiy dangerous situation from

developing.



25,

I got a message (from De Valera stating he was going

South and asking me to go t6 Eimerick and get the fight
going; one of those efonfomdéd truces had been
operating there. I set off, and got to within thirteen
milies; of the city when I was informed that fighting had
re-started in Limerick.as it was unnecessary to proceed
further, I returned to Dublin but De Valera remsined in
the South, '

Before leaving f;ar Limerick on that occasion
I called a Battalion Couneil to arrange the succession to
Battalion Commander in casse I did noit return. This was
done but during the meeting a fight developed between
our protection party and a i'éiding perty of Free State
troops. We definitely got the better of it, and
cgptured two rifles from them before they withdrew.
I slept on the floor of Iﬁdwidge's kitchen that night and
started off the following morning for Limerick,

ILynch had resumed as Chief of Staff and got the
I, R..A. “mowving. They were doing well, but what a pity
it wes that we lost those few first days in Dublin!
Oscar was captured quite early and Frank Henderson was
given charge of the Brigade.

I was now "on f.he, run" again, but had to resume
my woi-k in the Gorpora't/ion.' Fortunately my work was
mainly outdoor so I was: able with the help of my bieycle
t0 carry on, I want ’t!a make it clear that at no time '
from beginning to end of my militery dutiss did I'receive
one penny for ny perspn!al use, Therefore, as can be '
easily understood, T ha('I to earn my Iiving and keep my
wife and family, 'The Nallys of Rathmines ook me in, and

" they certainly did their duty to their country and to me

for quite a long time., | They were only too anxious to
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help in every way i:hey could. 'We—did‘eirerytlling we could
to meke the Staters keep| their {roops in Dublin, but after

some time the line fighting ceased and the whole I, R.A Was
on guerilla tactics, 'ﬂ:le_ Free State was win:qing'and

I knew that the Republié.-lwaé lost unless we could awaken the
country to the danger. I’t‘waa; now October and the_ Staters
announced that they would shoot any of our men c:a;otﬁred_
with firearms after the ]|;5th of the month,

Lyneh called a mepting of the Army Executive for
Tipperary town. About this time I héd been endegvouring
to persuade De Valéra (who had returned to Dublin) to take
over the politicel part of the work; so with two others:,
I think Derrig and O'Malley, saw him in a house in
| $tillorgan. We spent five hours together but failed %0
find a formula, The others; had left, going one at a time,
and he and I were in the hall. While I was puttiné on my
overcoat, I asked him for| the sake Oof Irelsnd to give the
matter further thought. | This, he promised to do, and the
day‘before I started for the meeting in Tipperary we nmet

again in Upper Mount Street when he handed me his proposals.
These followed the origin;l lines: - the political party
accepting responsibility for all matters outside the actuai

" direction of the fightingl'forces in the field; the Army
Authorities to work in conjunction with the elected -
repu‘blicran representatives and to give them full co-operation
in maintaining the freedom'oft' our whole country. I promised
to recommend their ad0ptic'|>n to the Executlve. This, I later

did end they were accepted.

5\

Before leaving the city I was told the name of the
place where I was to pick [up my contact. I had to travel
by train, I knew the onlly way was the bold way, so I made
up as a commercial traveller, took a hackney car to

Kingsbridge, bought a ticket for Limerlck Junction and
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succeeded in getting there on Friday night. I started
the three miles walk ﬁo Tipperary towﬁ, but as the lights
of the town appeared I discovered that I had forgotten
the name I had been given., Of course, I had nét dared
to put it in Writing,iand hed had to depend on my
memory which had never failed me before, How I prayed
as I walked along that country road. I decided to
speak to the first man I met, I stoppéd -the man and
seid: "I was given the name of éomeoge to seek in
Tipperary and I have.fprgotten the name*, He replied:
"Could it be Agnes Kate O'Ryan? See tlie seéond lamp
on your right, star% reading the names when you reach

that". The road was piteh dark so I couldn't be sure

-whether it was a man or an angel I had met. = I learned

in O0'Ryan's that thereéhad been fighting in the vicinity
and that the meeting was postponed, I was to remain
until I was called for, I was wilthin a stone's throw
of the barracks and spent some time looking into the

barrack square.

. Saturday night at 7 o'clock, Packey Cahill and
another man called for me and we started out for
Natty Burke's in the Glen of Aherlow. We reached there
at midnight, but during that five hours' tramp I can
safely say that we didn't walk two miles by road., It
ﬁas_a revelation to me‘as I followed their wnerring
fooﬁsteps to gap, gate!or stile. About ten o'clock
we reached a river but_foﬁnd“the bridge was blown up.

They gaid,there was a footbridge and we proceeded along

‘the river. I was to stand while one went right, and

the other ~ left. _ In dless_ than a minute they returned.
I was actually standing within six feet of a tree-trunk
spanning the river withla_wire for hand-rail. One of

the men left when we reached Burke's.
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At 7 o'clock on|Sunday morning, CGahill picked up
another man who hrought us to O0'Donnell's farm on the

Geltee Mountains.  O'Donnell was at Mass and would not

be back for three hours. We started tp cross the
mountain but were c_au.g'ht in a coud. However, we were
80 anxious to get .alozig that we kept wa}king, but after
an houwr and a half we found ourselves in the exact

spot from which we had sterted. We then lay down in a
farm cart to awalt O'Dbnnell., He gave us food, and
with his dog guided us' to Mrs, Tobin's of Tincurry where
we parted with him, O'Donnell told me ‘that he would
not cross the moun‘taini' at that time of the year without
his _dog.  The mount_aii‘z_ was, swarming with sheep, and he
told me that he, 1like the other farmers, would know the
appearance of his own éheep, and that when the sheep were
brought together for ,a;g.l_e or branding his dog could pick
_hie sheep from the floék. When the oloud 1lifted we got
a beautlful view of th_e'_Gold.QIi. Vale, I-t,: was surely a
land worth fighting ~for. Mrs. Tobin got a ,neighb,ow to
drive us the remaining |six miles to Goatenbridge where

I sta_yed with Mr. Meskell, |

The Executive met the following morning, with all
present except the Western membe_rs,_ who were unable to
cross the Shannon.  The whole national situation was
coﬁside;ted and __i_mpo_rtaz%j; deciéions taken, but the mosi
important was the ac_c_qp!tance of De Valera's proposals.

The m,e.,eting' lasted thre'e days, starting each morning at
ten and continuing until one or two the followlng morning.
At the final session, Derrig, myself and I think O'Domnell
were instructed to prepare a manifesto for publication.

I know that we were quite exhausted by this time and

I think we did not shine as propaganidsts but the effort
was published.
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The following morning we were told that a
lightning str,iké; on thié railways had occcurred and the
problem was to get"bac:k t0 Dublin, Pax Whelan suggeéted
my travelling with him to Dungarva.n and getting a boat
to_Dublin, but, fortupately Ernie O'Malley had driven from
‘Monaghan end was going{'_'back ‘40 Dublin, so I travelled
with him and reached the.city safely, There I inspected
the _munj,'tiona, centres,| and I must give the highest
priasse %o S@@_Ruﬁs_eﬂ.llfor his enérgy__ in overcoming
great difficulties -and for the guelity and number, of
grenades he produwceds  If only half his enorgy and
enthus;l_.a's,n; had been shown by .other foigerSf,: the
Republican Army might Bl;ti;l.l have won the war, s

... The pub_:l,i‘ckatioﬂ éf the manifesto and my pari in 1%
intensified the hunt for me and my officers, but we wefe
able to give as good a.s we got. Oriel House in
Westland Row was headciuarters for the new Free State
force known as the GC. I.iD. They were very active and
were caus.ing_ a .l'o.t of trouble, I issued instructions that
this post was to be destroyed, The Engineers got on the
job but after ali_ the risks when the bomb was placed in
position it falled ‘to“e,‘i;x;plod.e. " ghortly aft@r, I gave
the task to that splendid officer, Bob Moore, 0/C. "a"
compeany. . There was a "mach:l.n'e-gunl,péﬁted on the first
stalr landing, imediét!gly covering the front door,

This had been made the To_n:l._y-ent;ne.me., as a result of our
previous: effort. A tzzlaine_d'_gtmner_,- was on duty day and
night sitting _'t;eh_ﬂ_.p._d,fori?.s gun.,' Our plan was to send

two _men into the hall; . .after one minute they were 1o
shoot or__boﬁb.. the gunnerg . the attacking pariy would then
rush in and finish “the job. This plan .was put .into
action, but the first silz;ots_ failed to get the gummer, and
as the remainder of us Jg'each'ed the hall the machine-gun



was in full action. | Our twenty men, four of whom were

t0 remain outsiéé to prevent a surprise attack, were'
armed with revolvers.;nd hand-grenades whilst the |
defendsrs had the prqﬁared position, the machine-gun,
and an abundance of sﬁall arms. We had to beat a hasty
retrggt, followed immédiately by strong Free State
forces._ They capturéd four of our men, who were,

I think, the first prisoners t0 be shot under the new

order for carrying firearms.

an order.was iséned by the Chief of 3taff for the
destruction of gll bridges in South County Dublin,
The Free State evidenély knew gs much gbout this as we
did, and it was a hopeless falilure, We lost very many
men on that one night. Meanwhile every opportunity was
taken to atteck Free State forces and harass them in
every way, but they like us, had the experience of the
Tan War and were very: pareful to avoid giving an opening
for attack. Prisonsdgnd internment camps were filling

with our best officers|and men,

The Free State had Jury's Hotel in College Green,
and an order came froméBrigadé Headquerters: to burn the
pPlace. To know what éetails_wOuld be required, a
personal inspection of!this very big and strong bullding
was necessary. Afterlmy reconnaissance I issued the
necessary instructions |for men and mat@rials-and ordered
- the operation to take place at 9 a.m. on the ist of

l

RNovenber.,

On the morning of the 31st October as I was signing

the Attendance Book in |the City Rates Office where I was
employed, I felt a gun béing stuck in my back end '
I instantly knew that the game was up. I was hrought
to the‘Frae State post at the City Hall and searched.



21

During tl_xe search I saw| a very small piece of paper with

"Jury's® on ite I tried to grab it but falled, The
hame alone being found on me would I knew give the Staters:
warning, so it is easy o imagine my anxiety of mind at
the dangers I was unwiti;ipgly sending my men into -

I knew for certain t_hatltjo‘b would be attempited the

following morning,

-Later that day I v:waa brought to Griffith RBarracks'
guardroom where some of our men were being detained.
among them was one of my own Company Commanders: -

Paddy Mililer. I t0ld Paddy of my concern sbout the next
day's raid ané how anxious I was to get word to 0/C.
Brigade. Mlilar said: l,,"m-ite a note and I will get it
out®, I addressed the note to "Miss Maggie Fagan" and
Paddy persuaded a Free sftate soldier to deliver it,
telling him one of the fellows was letting his girl-friend
know of his capture. -h*[.end.grson received the message and
called off_the job. I'tl. was a narrow escape, but thank

God, everything was safreld.

After some days in the guardroom where were also
Pat Sweeney, Michaeﬁ_. Price and the four men captured at
0r_i,ei House, I was sent "..to the gymnasium, which had been
wired off and made into Ea collecting cage. Whilst there
- an-attack on the bazfragl_:_'s took place. It was a good
sharp fight, but when it was ended our turn came. ¥We were
| crowded into the G—ymnasi:mn and the d_oor locked. Some
Staters got outside the Enorth door with sub-machine guns
and fired through the woLaéh door, but "God directs the
bullets'. A strong inside iron bolt deflected the hulletis.
Only for this the casualtles amongst the gso'priséners
would have _‘beeh_ very great, but as it was, not more than
half a dozen were wounded. Seén Forde was the prisoners’

gommandant, and handled the situation well.
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Pat Sweeney was ope off those hit, This was the rﬁost
brutal and cowardly act that I ever knew Irishmen to

be guilty of.

I got into communication with Henderson and

arranged for the escape of four or five others with myself.
The plan was 0 cross f:bhe iron railings and barbed wire
entanglements and awiml the canal. 'Tl;e outside help was
merely to extingulsh a|street lamp, and thus put the:
point of crossing the i:ires in darkness. Then &ll was
arranged and bedding pleced on the wires, word came that
eight of owr comrades had been sentenced, so we decided
t0 stay and give them t".he chance to escape, When the
outslde help arrived i;rizstead, of climbing the lamp to
extinguish the light the men threw stones at 1t and
ereated such noise as t0 warn the seniry. Our eight men
had actually got over the wire when they were halted by
the guard. The facts were explained to him and appeals
made to let them go. |He refused, but promised to say
nothing if they returned to the Gym and i-emoved all
traces of the attempt. The father of one of the eight
had been courtmartialled and shot after the 1916 Rising.

The conditions in the Gym were awful, particularly
- in the mornings after the place had been locked up for
twelve hours. The doctors when appealed to, stated the
place should house fifty men and not more. Fhile a
prisoner in Griffith I |got my _last sight of my father.
"He was looking through the n';ain,_gate,, hoping to catch a
glimpse of me, We saw| each other then for the last time
on earth. When T was a boy he had pointed out to me
the cell in the same building he occupied during Fenian
times, and then he would show 'me where he was posted
when James $tephens, the Fenlan Ieader, escaped from the

same prison. " as in Frongoch, 80 also in Griffith, all
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prisoners joined in saying the Rosary every night before

goling to sleep.

When the news of|the shooting of Rory, Liam,
Joe and Dick was knowni our very first action was to
offer up the Rosary for the repose of thelr souls,
Tﬁein execution was a“éery sad blow to me, _It was the
gecond group of ardent |patriots in whose council I shared
to be cut down. = The first had been - Terry Mc3winey,
Tomds MacCurtain, and Cathal Brugha: now, Rory O'Connor,
Liam Mellows and Joe McKelvie were no more. Well, God
be,pra;séd,_l was left i$0 carry on and I have honestly

done my very best to do so,

_Before Christmas we were removed t0. Hare Park
Internment Camp at the Curragh. i was put into hut 23,
of ﬁhich,; was elected 0/C. . I was alsO on the Camp
Council and in charge of Education. This was a big job.
We had jﬁelve hundred ﬁen in the Camp and it was my job
to see how we could hglb everyone of them. Classes of
all grades were_begun,IESPeciallyféﬁg’Irish language,
and continued with varying degrees of success. The
Gaelic Ieague appointed some of the pmeoners (well known
to them) as examiners for the Féinne.  This was, of courss,
" long after our arrival.., I was fortunate myself to pass

the examination. . Every day some of us would speak only
Irish for one hour, andL“later, on the first Sunday in
each month spoke onlyll#iah. | To get the classes started
at noon we had Joe ciarkg?éiqw_three,blasts on his
whistle (which was well'known for its calls to prayer).

T wonder if this was th beginning of that beautiful
custom of blowing the Angelus every day at twelve o'clock
in our Army Bafracks. [(As a matter of fact all the men

in Gamp got into the habit of halting and uncovering on
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the blasts from Joe's whistle, and after some time the

Staters did likewise.

'Bh@ Bis'hgps‘ pastoral letter was having a very grave
effect on our men and the attendance at Mass on Sundays
was not as good as one might have expected. This was a
| very delicate sltuation |0 handle. The men simply
refused to pargde,_va.nd t:he Dining Hall which was used as
a chapel, was not half f:_:l.lled, and this continued for a
long time. When Ient came we arranged to say the Rosary
each evening at four o'clock in the Dining Hall, and by
Easter a very great improvement in the nuwubers joining in

'the RosBary, and in attendance at Mass was Seol.

Larry Raul was in my hut and I got him to start a
dry canteen, One day htla wag ordering goods and included
in the list some 5/~ fretwork sets of tools.’ " The
governor struck the item out, remarking "they won'i dig
any tunnels here". I.i'tfl;le did_ the unforpunate man know
that there were two euch!:l.n cons truction. During one of
thei_r searches for tunnels the guard had removed all the
tables and forms out of the Dining Hall to put us in at two
o'clock in the morning. : then the raid was over they would
not put the articileabaékland neither wouwld we, S0 we
carried the food to each |hut. Gredually the timber left
the plle and found ité wa{.y into the tunnels as. propa.

The two men I would particularly like to mention as
organisers and workmen fér the tunnels are - MHck Price

and Sefn Russell. - |

I got a regquest from P. Rutledge through our -own
tgpecial?t post for permission to withdraw the boycott money
in the bank in McKelvie's and my name. I sent him my

sig’nature-. The mone;} ﬁras to bé used by I.R.A.
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Through ouwr underground channel I also got a

letter from De Vialera asking if I agreed with his
proposed order %o the I,R.A. to cease fire and dump grms,
I replied in the affir}ilative. This consent was necessary
due to my being a memb?m* of the Army Executive with whom
the decision for peace| and war lay. |

In conjunc:tion_wlith our _educgtional. work, we had
lectures for farmers, ZArnw_pfficers and business. men, and
for those interested ;l.xl} civil administration, together
with debating _q:lasses." One_day I was giving the officers.
lecture when the class|was suddenly raided. Fortﬁnately,
1 was fac:i.ﬂg the entrance and I am sure the class '
wondered what had happened when I proceeded to speak on
camp hygiene.  They sri»aﬁ found out and an awkward

situation was avoided. i ‘

Canp :I:ni:“el:l.igenceI thought there was a steel pigeon
amonget us. They rushed a man bnt:‘l_rle escaped to the
guard house, and soon after another tunnel rald was made
and they discovered thq tunnel which by that time had
gone about seventy fee% or more than helf way t0 liberty.
They t00k S8ix or seven men away t0 the. glass house, a
prison in the Curragh (;i.an;p. The military ordered our
men to dig & trench, eight feet deep, inside the barbed
wire in the whole circuit of the Camp. _We refused and
the men were locked 1111?0 their huts, The occupanis of _
one hut were then taJﬂSﬂ out and to;l.‘d t0 begin work; they
refused. ' The military brought more so_ldiers in to the
Gamp with fized bayonets, -lined our men where the work
was to be done and stationed the soldiers behind them and
ordered our men to start work, They agasin refused, and
then the soldlers were lordered to chai-ge.- Qur men threw

themselves on the ground to gvoid the bayoneta. The
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officer then fired on them with his revolver. VWhen'oné
man was; shot in the neck and others had bullet holes in
their clothing, the remainder started to dig, There
followed a discusaion at the Camp Council as to future
action, I put forward'that to continue the protést
would be to brand our'cémrades, and this I was unwilling
ﬁo do, 80 in turn we dug the trench. Another
consideration was that-fighting outside had ceased and

the urgency of getting ?ut was not so great.

e hah many noct;#nal raids and searches, During
6ne such raid ohe of thé officers handling his revolver
menacingly repeated "thére will be bad blood spilled in
this. Camp". The following day one of their sentries; was
shot by his comrade. There were many rows; between the
Free stater; and us. When we refused 0 do what they
wanted they stopped all;Ietters and parcels in and out.

I ﬁas,never opposed to'éhis trouble for I found that the
disclipline amongst our own men was better when‘we were in
active hostility to our guards. However, in comparison

t0 Gmiffith Barracks, Hmie Park was not bad. The food was
good, indeed plentiful, with the parcels from our friends,
and each man had a bed, fiwe founded a‘library by having
all the men hand in the book or books they had read, and
the libraerian toock partibulars:and loaned the bookslto
others, We encouraged the hobbieé of the men and they
were many and varied. We had a compgtition and di3pla&
of the things made in the Camp, and some of them were
emcellent in design and Fﬁrkmanship. mé had bridge,
whist, draughts and chess tournaments, and I do think that
not gll the time we spen% in the Camp was 10St. We had a
fine organiser of entertainments in Jack Q'Sheehan end
when he wrote the "leglon of the Rearguard", Liam Kavanagh -

sang it at our Emmet Commemoration concert.

|
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To all the men interned with me in Hare Park
I would 1ike to say, thank you for your splendid

comradeship.

In October, 1923, f.wa&'tfansferred to Mountjoy
Prison and put in a-wing where there were few others,
I got in touch with our|comrades in B and C Wings and
learned that a hunger strike was being considered,

I opposed this proposel ([with all my strength pointing out

‘that most of our men were more than a:year locked up, not
overfed, and their pﬁyéical condition bad., In addition
I felt that the hunger strike for freedom was a spent”
force since Terry McSweelney's; death., The strike.began
and I felt then that I couldn't stand by end let others

- .fight for my freedom without standing by them end so

I joined in the s:itrike. After a week or so of the strike
the Sitaters collected about thir£y of us whom they
considered the leaders:, 'and bhbrought us to XKilmainham

Prison, where we were put into solitary confinement.

In the meantime the strike had spread to all the
Internment Camps but forfunately 1t stopped after ebout
a fortnight for most of thpee in the Camps, and the main

struggle was continued in Mduntjoy and Kilmainham,

A couple of hours: after our arrival in Kilmainham

four priests arrived and|visited emch cell, asking every

man 1f he wished to go t0 confession. I asked-my priest
about the Encyclical, but he merely repeatedl"po you want
to go to confessiong!. hat a joy it was t6 me t0 kneel
before him ! - The follow}ng morning we were gllowed out
of our cells %0 attend Mass and receive HOly Communion

from Pather Troy (one of |[the students I trained in 1918).
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After -Mass we were forced back into our cells which were |
again locked. Frequenily during these early days tempting
food was offlered, and bottled stout poured out t0 show a
creamy head, but I think the most tempting I remember was

cocoa and smoked herrings.

After the first Sunday most of us were unable to get
up for Mass, dbut Father'ETroy had the doors left open and
brought the Blessed Sacrament into the ceil to us. This
was a great consolation to me, and I am sure to my comrades,
After Mass Father Troy used to visit me for a chat, He
remembered me from our connection in 1918, This was a
very welcome break for t;he thoughts which came thronging
my brain during those early days of the etrike were not
pleasant, snd would need the pen of Frank Gallagher (of
"Days of Fear") to describe them. ILocked up, day and night
in a cell 11' by 8', with only the. occasional fiap of the
spy hole t0o remind you that there wae someone alive in the
prison, it was ineviiable that one's spirit was oppressed
by phantasmagoria of soclitude and fear. What a c:onéolation
to have the True Faith and trust in God which alone could

heve sustained me -

On the twenty-fifth day I became unconscious .for
I don't know how long., .I remember hearing someone
calling my name and when I awoke there were five or six
Staters in'the c_:ell and éhey were verff anxious, It was
the Governor's voice I. had heard and hé begged of me to
take some food. I can recall telling him I would if he ‘
guaranteed my release. IAn order was issued to unlock all
the doors, and in my case a soldier entered the cell every
l‘four, by doctor's orders.| -Th:i.é was worse in.a way than

go0litary confinement, but| from then onwards the doctors
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seemed to be in control; They could do little to help
but they dld keep us clean and warm,

Coming towards the end Frank Henderson and
Sefn Lehsne came into my cell to ask if I would sign a
promise to stop ther strike. I agreed, but told them that
if I signed, I would cease on the fortieth day. They
agreed and I signed. About -this time I got a letter from
my wife. She was very*‘nrave and did not try to get me to
850D Her words;were,iwell I can remember "Joe, do
what you think is right'?. - I had done so, but I was, and
am, very proud of gettiﬂg'that letter, and needless %o say
it came through our undetrground post.

I informed the Govler.nor on the fortieth day that
I would take food and thus ended this horrible nightmare.
The 8taters announced thie fact in the papers: as "One of
Dublin;s best-known Irregulars has. gone off strikev,
fhe strike was over the next day and 1t was then a much
bigger job to get back o:n food; in fact, for years after

I never knew the wish for foods

The doctors and nurses were very kind, They gave us
some form of nouriahment! every two hours from seven in the
morning $i11 eleven at n!ight, and for my first solid food
I got one and a hal-f arnbmoot biscuits. Gredually some
of the others got on thei:l.r feet and would visilt my cell,
particul arly -Bemon Donnefitly and Peadar O'Donnell.

The latter let me read tII;e manuscript of his. gtory -
"The Storm" - soon I go-lt on my own feet, and Docor Q'Connor,
é‘h‘aking a reproving finger at me, mid: "Never again®,

I smiled and thanked him|and his staff.
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The hearthunger of wanting to see my wife and
children was with me from the moment of my capture,
I had decided to take the risk of being with them for
Ealloweén, 1922, but thﬁ fates had decided against me,

Now that I waé on my fe%t and my home beling quite near

~the prison, it was cons%antly in my thoughts. Photographs

that my wife sent me on%y intensified my longing. I wrote
through our own pbstal'éhannel to my wife asking her %o
pass along the Islandbridge road at a stated time éach day
and to bring the children that I might;éee them from gn
upper and unused cell. What a joy it was to see my loved
ones: againd ﬂhis:uppef cell, by the way, had a slogan
painted over the outside, which réad: "Up Joe O'Connor

and the fighting Third",

A8 Christnmas approached, our- friends remembered us
with many gifts of food. I got a parcel from Bob Barton
who hadﬁbeeﬁ a comrade ih Hare Park and later released.
The food was: 80 plentifui that a speciél cell was used to
sitore it. I esked and got vermission to send my
parcel hoﬁe to my family for I'knew their Christmas fare
would be ﬁeny scant. @& got the Little Sisters from
Saint Patrick's Home to +a11 for ell the food and good

things we could not use.

On Christmas Eve the Governor came into my cell and
offered me a guarantee of release for Christmas 1f I would
put the fequest in writiﬁg. This: I could not do in
loyalty to my comrades; | It was & very great temptation,

I need scarcely add,

Cn Christmas Day we fitted out the condemned cell
by putting the small cell tables end to end and we gll
dined together in wonderfiul style. Before the dinner we

asked that De Valera, a %risoner in another wing, should bhe
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allowed to join us, but| this request was refused.

I responded to the toast of Fianna Bireann snd was pleased

with my 1ittle effort. . There were many toasts snd
speeches of high arder,lfollowed by songs and recitations.
We had excellent music én David Robinsorn's gramophone.

In gll we had a unigue and very pleasant Christmas except
for the thoughts: of our |loved ones at home,rand of course
e was patent in all the speeches, the pitiable condition

of our éountry.

Wery early in Januery we were moved to the Curragh,

gome to Hare Park, others to Tintown. I was: sent to

‘pintown. On the morning of our departure we were lined

up: outside our cellshandcuffed in palrs, loaded on lorries.
an&_entraiﬁe@ at Kingshridge ffor Kildare. e were marched,
still manageied, to Tintown. Needless to .state, we were
utterly wnfit to do tne ﬁarch, and to make matiers worse
the handouff geshed my whist. I suffered in my health
for five years sas ﬁ consequence of that dreadful journey,
during which my comrade ?nd-I staggered along the road like
drunken men, whilst our guards: kept bellowing at us to

"ecarry on",

L
#hen we reached Tintown we were given a mattress and

four blankets and I was ﬁut into a large shed where there
were at least a hundred.an._ I placed the matiress on the
fioor ané stood on it, th% water spouting from the sodden
thing. The blankets proved very little better. So bad
were the conditions that & had $0 sleep fully clothed even
to my b&¢ercoat until the %ed&ing;dried out. EEedléss to
gtate gll the time I wags in wefy low hegth, bhut "God fite
the back for the hurden",|and it ls remarkable that I did

not get even a sneeze out|of the whole affgir. The Camp

was not so well organised |as Hare Park, but my comeagdes dld
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ell in their ﬁow.er t0 help me and the others who came with
me. I would particularly llike to thenk Tony Brack for
his many kindnesses, Releases were frequent and helped to

frustrate our attempts to organise “camp: life'.
l ) L]
Gne morning I was celled out to the Camp office, to
. |
be faced by a Free State Intelligence Officer in uniform.
I did@ not know hiw name;and he did not tell me, He caume

straight to the point by asking what my attitude would be

to a march on the North. without a moment's hesltation,

I told him that I would.t'be heart and soul with it and that
I would use all my Infiluence and energy io get the
co—oPerat:.on of my comrades. I don't know what was:
happening, but I felt sure that he was: acting on ordene.

I heard nothing further !about the matter, and in

February I was; relessed.,| It is a strange thing but

I could not believe that% I was indeed fres ﬁntil I YTef't the

Kingebridge Railway Station.
|

I repofted for dutér to 0/C., Brigade, Jeff Keatlnge,
and was appointed Direct.::r of Qrganisation. I was told to
proceed along the Swor&slroad at 5 o'clock on a particular
evening soon afterwards when I would be picked up and
brought to the new Chief jof Staff, Frank Alken, then known
as Hr. ‘JOhn_ston. I was iltheroza but: wag not contacted.

I was: annoyed because of i:tljce trouble .I had had in sheaking
off the detective who WaBi constantly on my heels, I saw
Alken later and had a lonlg discussion.. I put forward that
new blood would be needed on the Executive as those of us
5511 living were likely l1:0 fagvour 0ld ways of-‘:.do;ng things,.
A great stir was; caused a‘lnout this time by the shooting of
English soldiers: in Cobh. |

A proclamgtion, with reward, was: issued, and I am of

the opinion that the names; of those smspeéted: were mentioned,
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A convention wes: held in Dublin, which I attended, and
someone brought up the matter of the shooting, which was

very unpopular, but the gquestion was. hushed up. Owing

to my poor state of health I had .to get permission to

leave and T was: not elected on the new Executive.

During my stay in Hare Park instructions were
received to form branches. of Sinn Fj;ein. This was my
introduction to that or%anisation. In June I was asked
by De Valera to orgapisé the Wolfe one pilgrimaée 0
Bodens town. I hed Eamén Donnelly as: Secretary, and we
made the occagsion a great success. Then the Staters:
decided to give up the bodies. of our conrades whom they
had shot, by way of reprisal and after trial, and I was
gppointed by the army tq take charge of tﬁe re-burial of

| .

those interred inside ﬁhg Dublin Barracks, T™is was g
dgifficult undertaking, ! There was no money and the cost
ren to £600. My first bmoubie was 40 get the £150
demanded by the Glasnevin juthorities. before they would
even open the common grave in the republican plot, but
Austin Stack came {0 my @elp By a guerantee in the banke
The next problem was; toO éet some place where the remains:
could lie in state beforé going to‘the church, We
eventually got the theatre 1in Hardwicke Street, and
although it was smgll we were gble to get in the eighteen
coffins with a clear passage for the great numbers. who
cane to pay their respects. e consulited the relatives:
and, where necessary, sent the remainé t0 their local place
for re~burigl after one night in the Carmelite Church,
ﬁhftefriér Street.. dhi;gers' body remained in Hardwicke
Street with a guard of honour. His coffin was brought to

join his comrades at @whitefriar Street for the mass funereal

to Glasnevin cemetery,
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That night I reached home about midnight. About
12,15 a.m, my home was| invaded by detectives and I was

arrested without any charge being made. It was alleged

that they were acting on information supplied by one of
our Volunteers, but they did not produce the many: and

I dign't believe it.

I spent a miserably cold night in the Bridewell,
and in the morning I w%s charged with murder, They were
concoting something solas to pin the Cébh shootings on ..
me. I did know through our Intelligence Department that
arising out of the shoo‘;ting of Stack in Egypt, the
British were demandingivengeance for the shqoting et Cébh‘
and BEgypt. I was reménded to Mountjoy for a_week.
T had a visit from my wife and explained to her that’
I could not understand [their move as both of us knew
that I was being contiquously followed by detectives

. L] 1
gince my release from the Curragh. S8he was: very brave.

When I came befor% the court again I found four of

my Battalion Officers: and two ex-Free State soldiers were
held on a similar cha:gé. I was told that they knew
I was not out of the city but that they were charging ms

with organising the shooting They had nine wiinesses

' |
from ¢ébh, but they could not identify any of the men

charged and it was deciéed to drop the proceedings.

I was in fine form unti% I heard that they were entering'
a noli prosequi and theﬁ'something snepped inside me,

I knew some thing werious hed happened but what it ﬁas

I could not unders$and;; My wife was in court and when
I was released we went home together passing the Friars'
Church on Merchant's Quay. We went intoe thank God for
His great d91ivera£ce; wWhen I reached home I collapsed,

just for a moment, on the stairs to the bedroom. I had
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barely strength enough to hold on it0o the banister and

avold falling,. My nerves were completely gone.

1

For the next eighteen.méntha‘I had the awful ekpenience
of being afraid, and it;was my first acquéintance wlth
fear. I wanted to get|away to the country but my doctor
told me I would have to |fight the thing in my ordinsry

surroundings. I remember one day I was crossing

Dame Street when I took a seizure and when I came %0

I was standing in front;of a tramcar with the driver
Jumping on the bell and @ellowing at me, I had just time
to get out of the way. ' |

Frequently I had %L sk my wife t0 accompeny me home
from the office in the evenling. At night when asleep if
a motor car stopped withén'hearing distance I would spring
on to the floor. All iﬁ all I hed a rotten time.
I often since wonderedw%s it caused by the fear of being
hanged, or the horror of!the shameful crime with which
I had been unjustly charéed, or perhaps Jjust the cumulative
effect of eleven years;o%hazardous living. I don't know.

i
The task of paying .off the six hundred pounds had to

be accomplished. while |I was under arrest Tom O'Reilly

had arranged a concert iq the Mansion House for the benefit

of the fund. Having fiﬂst anmounced that De Valera would
be there, he asked me to!see De Valera to arrange for his
reception. Then I saw h&m he was annoyed that his
attendance at the conceri should be announced Without‘his
consent. He described i% as another "fait accompli".

I explained the situation| and he agreed to attend but

refused to speak or take any part in the affair. I thought.
his attitude was very petty considering the job before us;
and the object for whigh we were working. The concert was

not a great success and was san early indication of the
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worry our commltitee would experience in getting the debt

cleared, but we succeeded after all.

At the final connn:l..ttee meeting I was handed ten pounds,

the last of the money, as a present for Very Reverend
Father Devlin, Prior of Whitefriar Street church, where the
remains h‘ad been receivecii.- when we saw Father Devlin he
would not accept the monlsy but asked me. to help the

relgtives-, of the deceasec} ar others. in nsed. This I did.

. { : ,
|
Throughout the re-interment ceremonies the Fathers 1n

Whitefriar Street had be?n most helpful, and at this time
l .
our friends were few and.far between. with this

.accomplished Alken was kéen on marking places: where some of

our men had met thelr deg_ths. I spoke at many of these
ceremonies, Then I was'!ordered by the Army not to attend
one arranged to commemoralte a man killed in my own area.

I kept the promise I had made %o unveil the memorial |
before receiving the Arm;‘I order, and thus was ended my
connection with the L. R.&.

! : .
I continued my ectivities with Sinn Féin and when

De Valera proposed stgrti!ng Fianna 7411 I found I could not
agree with hid, I thought that with hard work we could -

get life into the 8inn Fé;in organisation again.

‘Seén lemass was using all, his great talents to put the

new organisation on foot.! He was a member of my Compeny
before the Easter Ris.ing.% Owing, to an accident in his
family he was ordered to cease parading for some time, and
was not mobilised by me, but when the fight started he
joined the G,P, 0. garrison. Noel, his elder brothe;',
went to bring Sein home, and insitead of doing so joined in
himself, He was: wounded|in the fight in 0'Connell Stx‘eet

and by the bravery of Frank Thornton was: ssgved from what

must have been certain death. There was a 1ot of talk
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about the two brothers after the Rising, Sefn remained
with the Second Battalion with which he had fought, and
Noel came to me, later |becoming an of ficer. During the

Civil War Noel was: captured and escaped. Later he was

recaptured and his badly mutilated body was found on the
Eeatherbed‘Mountain. After Seén's release when an

election came on he Was‘returned as a Sinn Péin deputy.

De Valera sent for me and we spent three hours.
debating the issue, he trying to get me into the proposed
new party and I endeavouring to save him for Sinn Péin.
Nothing decisive happenéd. We tried another time for
two hours with a like résult. One of the difficulties
I foresaw wés what would happen if we became a government
and the men we had left|in the J.R.A. attempted to carry
out the things we had been preaching for years. I think

that what really frightened me was that any party

entering the DAil would be forced to accept the Tréaty
-

with paertition and the ﬁing. Thus I found myself out in

the cold, but found work to my liking on the National

s

Graves; gommittee,

During the term of office of the Coégrave G@vernmen#

I took én active part in' gll effo rts. to keep the
republicen ideal before the people, but on the whole I was
very dbwnhearted,,particﬁlarly so during the Free State
Army Mutiny. I knew that man& of the I,R.a. would join
in if fighting began, ané elthough I had no love for the
Government I was: opposed!to the elected government being

set aside by a band of &iscontend Army Officers. and of

“the dangerousﬁprecedent it would estagblish, for thése

people had accepted and fought for the Treaty.

A strange thing heppened to me during the centenary
celebration of Catholic Emancipation in 1929. I was in
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the procession from Fhoenix Park to Watling Street Bridge

and feeling very discontented was passing glong the Quays
when I glanced up and saw our flag flying proudly over
Collins Barracks. The [thought suddeniy came to me that
all our efforts were ﬁot in vein, and I was much hagppier
in mind théreafter. I hed, of course, seen the flag
many time;in similgr station but untlil then 1t had never
gtruck me in that same light. |

I remgined friendly with De Valera and his co-workers:,
and when Fianns FAil for&ed a Government a great change for.
the better came over the|national outlook. on the twenty-
first enniversary of the Rising they decided to erect a
memorlal inside the G, P, 0. The *“Irish Press" which
De Valera had founded, and to which I subscribed, was
writing up the event, but no mention waéamade of
participation in the ceremonies by the men who had fought
in 1916, According to the Press it was to be a
demonstration of the armed forces of'the government.

I did not like this;aﬁd I went t0o De Valera and tbld him so.
He lmmediately rané Aiken to enguire and 1t was then
settled that the survivors: of the Rising should participate.
Alken called a meeting of| representatives of the various

organisations and Traynor| and I were sent by the Dublin

Brigade Council of the 0ld I,R.A. Alken explained the
government's intentions and asked us: to form a committee
to‘co-operate with the Army in making this a great national
tributs. I waszﬁlected chairman of the Committee.

We organised by gérniaon and thus eliminated the possibility
of outsiders participating, as those who fought together

would always know 1f a men was. genuine,

At De Valera's request each men filled in a form

giving particulars, of his service. If everything was: in
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order, he got an official armlet and his form endorsed by

another member of the unit was sent to De Valera for safe
keeping. | These were the first recofdszof the Rising.

¥e formed the guerd inside the G.P.d. and when the

memorial was un#eiled our men on top of the building raised
the Flag and fired three|volleys. from our ¢ld Howth rifles
as a salute to our fallen comrades, We then formed up in
front of the platform from which De Valera tock the salute
of the marching Army. The active I.R.A. wanted to take
part, but the conditions | they put up were unacceptable to
ny Committee, and, of course, I suffered the usual abuse,
soﬁe very hard things being said about me. The job was
woell done and I felt proud of our achievement. Later a
Roil of Honour was compiled hy garrison, and each man had
to be accepted by his garrison committee. When completed,
the Rolls. were presented [to De Valera who in turn handed
them to an official of the National Museum where they are
s13ill to be seen,

Efforts were msde to complile g history of the 1916
Rising by the Committee, but this failed. It was a pity
for we had all the participants: organised and it was a
great opportunity to get the facts from officers and men.
Later another committee of 0ld I.R,A. moved in the same
matter but they were to 4o the entire hisfory. The old -

Brigade Council discussed| the subject and decided not to

co-operate. T had been invited to help in the work of
compiling the history, but thié decision prevented me from
doing so. I was very surprised when the book waé
eventually published to read a foreword by Oscar Traynor
and to see other officers |of the Brigsde Council included
in a photograph; This 18 the explanstion why the Third
Battalion and other units [got so little notice in the

publication,




[ §)

40,

then De Valera published his Draft Constitution
I read it with great joy. The King was to go and the

gonstitution would embrece the thirty-two counties.

It was all that I coulld hope for in my lifetime, so
I jolned Fianna F4il and did my bit to get the country
to accept it.r After 'a short _time I 'WaS put on the
National Executive of [the organisétion and worked on it

for six or seven years., During that time I did all in

ny power t0 keep the removal of parti_tién in the
foreground. I don't mean by this thAat the Executive
was not as anxious as I was to remove this last barrier
t0 a united Ireland, but a Government Party has many

matters. to0 consider.

I was invited to |Spike Island for the taking over

of the Ports and this was one of the great days in my
life. We were brought to the Island by tender from
cévh (of dreaded memory foi-.me). #hen we reached the
Island,bPe Valera walked forward and rsised the Flag.

ot one word was; spoken, but, oﬁ, the joy of seeing it!

#hen World Rar II started, De Vealera and I were
discussing 1t and he spoke of the dangers of 'be_inQ: .
involved. I tOld him the danger I saw was that
Irishmen would get "sofiY, The couniry was contented,
ﬁell-governed and prosperous, and the young men not
over-patriotic. I suppose at the back of my mind was
that this Emergency miglLt give us. an 0pportunify to get

back the six counties.

#hen Churchill made his demand for the Poris,
and before the news: wag [published, I got a 'phone message

that De Valera wanted to see me urgently. .iden I Saw
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him his first words were|, "We will not get soft".

I stiffened and said "“From elther side", meaning from

Germans or British. He|replied, “Yes". @ then fell

t0 discussing ways and means, He asked me 1o put my
suggestions in wrilting and let him have them. I did so
and sent the sheets to him by special messenger.

Briefly, my proposals were that the Old I.R. A be called
on to form the backboné of the resistance to invasion.
They would have their own officers, non-commissioned
officers and men. _ They |lwould know their own part of the
country. The younger men could join with them and get
some training, They would make their own grenades and
mines, They would harass the enemy whilst making their
way to points of mobilisation asnd when they had reached
the National Army they would be under the command of the
reguler army. This: I elaborated and sent t0 De Valera
as I heve slready stated.

The invasion did not occur, but the Government daid
act by forming the.Local Security Force attached to gnd

trained by the Gérda, the |Local Defence Force attached to

and trained by the Army, the Coastal Defence Force attached
to the Marine Service, and in Dublin by the establishment
of the 26th Battalion composed of the (Ld Dublin Brigade
five Battalions. The First Battalion became “A" Cormpany,
Second "BY, Third "c", Fourth "D", The Compeny

Commanders were Paddy Houlihan "A", Frank Henderson R",

myself "C", and Paddy Rigney "D".  The Fifth (Engineers)
were a separate command er Liam Q'Doherty. Thus the
0id Dublin Brigade was specially honoured. Later the

older members of Flanna ﬁi!'eann and I.C.A. were included.

After preliminary training|by the Army the Battalion was

formed with Paddy Houlihan, Gommandant; myself, second in
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command ; alfj ﬁhiﬁe, Adjutant; and Seén Mooney,

Quartermaster.

After an extensive course of officers' leciures
we were allocated positions to defend i1f the necessity
arose, I was given go ernment Buildings in Merrion
Street, and we were allowed every 6pportunity t0 become
acquainted with our posits, Later when the men nhad been
well trained by their own officers and N,C.0s., the
Battalion was given a section of the line defence of

Dublin, and over’ this line we had many exercises.

Each August we went to Gormanston Camp for a week's

intensive training, the men sacrificing their annual

bholidey for this gruelling ﬁork, and they enjoyed every
moment of it. On our last visit to the Camp the men
expressed a wish to make|a present to the new church.

ﬁ? made enguiries and found out that the beautiful
Silver-cruaifix over: the |Al tar was on loan from g Dublin

shop. We took up subscriptions and bought the Crucifix

for the Church. A beautiful Battalion Flag was
presented to us by Volunteer Patsy Kehoe; emblazoned on
it were the symbols of the: three sectlons of which the
Battalion was formed - [I.R.A., I.C.A. and Fianna, and
it was with great pride and splendid ceremony that on the
stand-down in December, 1945, we handed it over to the
young men who would continue to serve after the emergency
had passed. I was very proud of the fact that my four
sons served their country during this time of crisis, and
an honoured pleture in eajh of -our homes: is a photograph

of the five of us in uniform,

Thus: ended my thirty-two years of service with the

armed forces of the Nation, 1913 -~ 1945, I am very
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thankful to Almighty God for the many graces
besitowed on me, and fqr His wonderful protection of
e8;

myself, my wife and my children.
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